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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION
_______________________________________________
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
§
§
Plaintiff,
§
§
vs.
§
§
CHARLES E. SMITH, CPA, and
§
MARK SMITH, CPA,
§
CIVIL ACTION
3-14-cv-3874
§
No. ______________
§
Defendants,
§
_______________________________________________ §
COMPLAINT
Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) alleges:
SUMMARY OF THE ACTION
1.

Since at least 2006, Charles Smith, along with his brother Mark Smith (together, the

“Smiths” or “Defendants”) have run a “shell factory” scheme. The scheme has involved eight
public shell companies (the “Public Shell Companies”).
2.

The Smiths carried out the scheme by “renting” legitimate operating companies

from small business owners in exchange for the promise of additional financing. This financing
was to be raised in a public stock offering (a/k/a an “IPO”). But contrary to the promises made by
the Smiths to the business owners and to the information disclosed to the public, most of the
money raised was retained by the non-operating holding companies controlled by the Smiths—
instead of being used to finance the small businesses.
3.

The Smiths did not publicly disclose their true purpose—to sell the Public Shell

Companies in future reverse merger transactions. Nor did they disclose that they had structured the
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scheme to avoid Commission rules concerning the sale or merger of blank check companies.1 In
order to protect investors, these rules impose heightened requirements for mergers with public
shell companies.
4.

The business owners had little or no involvement in the reverse merger transactions.

Nor did they typically receive the financing promised by the Smiths. The Smiths, on the other hand,
received significant cash proceeds and stock from the transactions.
5.

In the course of executing their scheme and in violation of the antifraud

provisions of the federal securities laws, the Smiths have filed and caused the Public Shell
Companies to file materially false and misleading registration statements and periodic reports.
The Smiths have also violated a number of other provisions of the federal securities laws.
6.

The Commission seeks orders enjoining the Smiths from future violations of the

federal securities laws along with civil penalties, disgorgement with prejudgment interest, penny
stock bars, and—for Charles Smith—a bar from serving as a public company officer or director.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
7.

The Commission brings this action pursuant to Section 20(b) of the Securities Act of

1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)] and Section 21(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)].
8.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e) and 27

of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa].
9.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15

U.S.C. § 78aa] because the Defendants live in, and a substantial portion of the conduct alleged in
this complaint occurred within, the Northern District of Texas.
1

A blank check company is a development-stage company that either does not have an established business plan or
has a business plan based around a merger or acquisition with another company or companies.
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DEFENDANTS
10.

Charles E. Smith, CPA, age 57, resides in Rockwall, Texas. Charles Smith

founded Yorkdale Capital, LLC in December 2005 and, since 2006 has served as a principal of
Yorkdale. Yorkdale’s offices are located in Rockwall. Charles Smith has also been a selfemployed accountant, doing business as Charles E. Smith, CPA. Charles Smith’s accounting
activities are based out of Rockwall.
11.

Mark Smith, CPA, age 50, resides in Allen, Texas. Mark Smith joined Charles

Smith as Yorkdale’s co-principal in 2006 and remained in that role until he resigned earlier this
year. Mark Smith has also been a self-employed accountant, doing business under the name AM
Group. Mark Smith’s accounting activities are based out of Rockwall, TX and Allen, TX.
THE PUBLIC SHELL COMPANIES
12.

Hall Tees, Inc. is a Nevada corporation located in Rowlett, Texas. The Smiths

formed it as a holding company in 2007 to acquire 100% of the membership interests of Hall
Tees & Promotions, LLC and took it public through a registration statement that became
effective on December 23, 2009. The company remained under the control of the Smiths during
the course of their scheme. It is currently quoted on OTC Link under the ticker HTEE.
13.

Phoenix Medical Software, Inc. is a Cayman Islands company located in Ovilla,

Texas. The Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2007 and took it public through a
registration statement that became effective on July 6, 2007. The company remained under the
control of the Smiths during the course of their scheme. It currently has no operations other than
to complete regulatory filings. It is currently quoted on OTC Link under the ticker PHXMF.
14.

Surface Coatings, Inc. is a Texas corporation located in Rockwall, Texas. The

Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2007 and took it public through a registration
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statement that became effective on October 14, 2008. The company remained under the control
of the Smiths during the course of their scheme. It currently has no operations other than to
complete regulatory filings. It is currently quoted on OTC Link under the ticker SCTZ.
15.

Flint Int’l Services, Inc. is a British Virgin Islands company located in Vaughn,

Ontario, Canada. The Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2010 to acquire 100% of the
membership interests of Flint Management, LLC and took it public through a registration
statement that became effective on January 27, 2012. The company remained under the control
of the Smiths during the course of their scheme. It is currently quoted on OTC Link under the
ticker FNTSF.
16.

Global Condiments, Inc. was a Nevada corporation headquartered in State

College, Pennsylvania. The Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2009 to acquire 100% of
the membership interests of Herlocher Foods Online, LLC and took it public through a
registration statement that became effective on July 8, 2010. The Smiths controlled the company
until December 31, 2013, when the company completed a reverse merger transaction with
Southport Lane, Inc. Within six months of closing the reverse merger, Southport Lane ceased
operations and deregistered the securities of Global Condiments.
17.

Kingdom Koncrete, Inc. was a Nevada corporation headquartered in Rockwall,

Texas. The Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2006 to acquire 100% of the membership
interests of Kingdom Concrete, Inc. and took it public through a registration statement that
became effective on July 27, 2007. The Smiths controlled the company until May 30, 2014,
when the company completed a reverse merger with Latitude 360, Inc. The company is
currently quoted on OTC Link under the ticker LATX.
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Premier Oil Field Services, Inc. was a Nevada corporation headquartered in

Royce City, Texas. The Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2010 to acquire 100% of the
membership interests of Coil Tubing Motors Corp. and took it public through a registration
statement that became effective on January 7, 2011. The Smiths controlled the company until
April 7, 2014, when the company completed a reverse merger with Perfect Metals Inc. The
company is currently quoted on OTC Link under the ticker AMRR.
19.

Specialty Contractors, Inc. was a Nevada corporation headquartered in

Rockwall, Texas. The Smiths formed it as a holding company in 2010 to acquire 100% of the
membership interests of Texas Deco Pierre, LLC and took it public through a registration
statement filed by the Smiths that became effective on February 10, 2011. The Smiths controlled
the company until April 21, 2014, when it completed a reverse merger transaction with Ciao
Telecom, Inc. The company is currently quoted on OTC Link under the ticker CIAU.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
I.

Background
20.

Since at least 2006, Charles Smith and his brother Mark Smith have run a shell

factory scheme. During that time, they took the eight Public Shell Companies public. They also
sold four of those companies in reverse merger transactions.
21.

The shell factory scheme followed a consistent pattern. First, Charles Smith (and

occasionally Mark Smith) approached a small business owner offering to provide the company
additional financing by selling shares of stock in an IPO. The Smiths would accomplish this by
first forming a parent shell company that would “acquire” the small business. They then
solicited investors to buy shares in the now-public shell company. Even though the small
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business owner would be named the sole officer and director of the Public Shell Company, the
Public Shell Company was actually controlled by the Smiths.
22.

Unbeknownst to the business owners and contrary to the respective IPO

prospectuses, the vast majority of the money raised in the IPOs was not used to operate the small
businesses. Instead, it was retained by the shell companies. Even those amounts that were
provided to the small businesses were typically characterized on the shell company’s books as
loans that eventually had to be paid back to the parent, rather than as distributions of capital that
could be retained by the small business.
23.

After the IPO, the small businesses would continue to operate as they always had,

even though they were nominally “owned” by the shell company. The business owners were
typically identified in the public filings as chief executive officer, sole director and controlling
shareholder of the holding companies. But in fact, these owners had little or no involvement
with the Public Shell Companies. Nor did they have knowledge of the information—and
misinformation—contained in the public filings. Instead, it was the Smiths who controlled and
disseminated this information to the public.
24.

In essence, the Smiths had “rented” the small businesses so they could report their

operating activities in the public filings. This created the appearance that the Public Shell
Companies were viable companies with long-term business plans—even though the Smiths had
always intended to sell the Public Company Shells in reverse merger transactions. The Smiths
structured their scheme this way in order to avoid the disclosures required by the Commission’s
blank check company rules.
25.

The Smiths ultimately sought to profit from the scheme by selling the Public Shell

Companies in reverse merger transactions. They arranged these transactions by introducing

6

Case 3:14-cv-03874-D Document 1 Filed 10/31/14

Page 7 of 15 PageID 7

parties seeking a reverse merger to one or more of the Public Shell Companies. The Smiths
arranged reverse merger transactions for four of the eight Public Shell Companies.
26.

Charles Smith structured these reverse merger transactions so that all of the small

business owners’ stock in the public shell was cancelled in exchange for the return of ownership
of their original small business. This left the owners with little or no proceeds. Instead, they
were left essentially where they started—with small, private businesses, having received little or
nothing from their association with the Smiths and the Public Shell Companies. Meanwhile, the
Smiths received significant proceeds from the reverse merger transactions. In addition, they,
their friends, and family received stock in the new public companies.
II.

False and Misleading Registration Statements
27.

In the course of their scheme, the Smiths filed and caused the Public Shell

Companies to file materially false and misleading registration statements. For example, these
filings failed to disclose the Smiths’ control of the Public Shell Companies. Instead, they
identified the business owners as the sole officers and directors of these companies. They also
falsely stated that the Public Shell Companies rely upon the small business owners to direct the
affairs of the Public Shell Companies. In fact, the Smiths directed virtually all of the affairs of
these companies.
28.

The registration statements prepared by the Smiths also contained false and

misleading statements about the anticipated use of proceeds from the IPOs and the true purpose
of the Public Shell Companies. For example, the “Use of Proceeds” section of the registration
statements consistently stated that approximately 90% of the funds raised would go to the
operating subsidiary (i.e., the original small business). In reality, the Smiths typically sent the
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operating subsidiary only a small portion of the IPO proceeds—and then recorded that payment
as a “loan,” rather than an investment.
29.

The registration statements also falsely stated that the sale of stock in the IPOs

would be “made by personal contact by” the sole officer and director of the Public Shell
Company (i.e., the small business owner). In reality, Charles Smith (and occasionally Mark
Smith) was responsible for identifying and soliciting the shareholders. At least 89% to 99% of
those shareholders were trusts or other business interests controlled by the Smiths, or were the
Smiths’ friends, relatives or acquaintances.
III.

False and Misleading Periodic Reports
30.

The Smiths caused the Public Shell Companies’ periodic public reports—which

were prepared and filed by the Smiths—to contain many of the same material misstatements or
omissions as the registration statements—as well as other false statements.
31.

For example, the publicly-filed financial statements failed to disclose that the

Smiths expected to be paid significant sums from the Public Shell Companies as a result of
services apparently being provided to them by Yorkdale. When Yorkdale provided these
services, the Smiths neither invoiced the Public Shell Companies, nor caused them to accrue or
otherwise record the amounts supposedly owed to the Smiths and/or Yorkdale. As a result of the
Smiths’ failure to include those obligations on the financial statements, investors and other
reviewers of the financial statements could not tell that the Public Shell Companies owed large
sums to the Smiths.
32.

In addition, the periodic filings for some of the Public Shell Companies falsely

describe the reasons leading to the divestiture of each company’s wholly owned subsidiary. For
example, in a Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 1, 2012 and amended on August
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3, 2012, the Smiths caused Surface Coatings to falsely announce that it had divested its wholly
owned subsidiary Surface Armor, LLC “due to losses and continuing related expenses.” In
reality, the company was divested after the owner of Surface Armor began to feel uncomfortable
with the Smiths’ scheme, voiced his concerns to the Smiths, and refused to sign any more public
filings. To keep the company current in its filings and cover up the owner’s concerns, Charles
Smith fraudulently signed the owner’s name to two filings—a Form 12b-25 filed with the
Commission on May 15, 2012 and a subsequent Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May
21, 2012.
33.

Similarly, in a Form 8-K filed on March 7, 2013 and amended on February 4,

2014, the Smiths caused Specialty Contractors to falsely announce that the public company had
divested its wholly owned subsidiary Texas Deco Pierre, LLC “due to continuing losses.”
However, as with Surface Armor, the divestiture of Specialty Contractors’ operating subsidiary
was actually to resolve a dispute between the Smiths and the sole officer and director of the
company.
IV.

False Statements to Auditors
34.

At the direction of the Smiths, the small business owners, who were the nominal

officers and directors of the Public Shell Companies, signed management representation letters to
the company auditors. The Smiths prepared these letters.
35.

These letters failed to disclose that the Public Shell Companies’ public filings failed

to disclose material information—including that the Smiths controlled the companies as well as the
actual amounts that the companies owed to the Smiths and/or Yorkdale.
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against Charles Smith only)
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder
36.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.

37.

Charles Smith violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and

Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5], which prohibit any person from employing, in
connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national security exchange, any
manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance. Unless restrained and enjoined, Charles Smith
will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against both Defendants)
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
38.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.

39.

Sections 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] prohibit any person from,

in the offer or sale of securities: (1) employing devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (2)
obtaining money or property by means of untrue statements or omissions; and (3) engaging in
transactions, practices or courses of business which operate or would operate as a fraud or deceit.
40.

Charles Smith violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate

Sections 17(a)(1)-(3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].
41.

Mark Smith violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate

Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2) and (3)].
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against Charles Smith only)
Violations of Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act
42.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.

43.

Charles Smith violated Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)],

which makes it unlawful for any broker or dealer to use jurisdictional means, such as the
telephone or mails, to effect any transaction in, or to induce or attempt to induce, the purchase or
sale of any security unless such broker: (1) is registered with the Commission; (2) in the case of a
natural person, is an associated person of a registered broker-dealer; or (3) satisfies the
conditions of an exemption or safe harbor.
44.

Unless restrained and enjoined, Charles Smith will continue to violate Section 15(a)

of the Exchange Act.
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against both Defendants)
Aiding and Abetting Violations of Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, 15d-1, and 15d-13 Thereunder
45.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.

46.

The Public Shell Companies controlled by the Smiths violated Sections 13(a) and

15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a) and 78o(d)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11,
13a-13, 15d-1, and 15d-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, 240.13a13, 240.15d-1, and 240.15d-13], which require certain issuers to file with the Commission accurate
quarterly, current and annual reports. The Smiths aided and abetted these violations.
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Unless restrained and enjoined, the Smiths will continue to aid and abet violations of

Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, 15d-1, and
15d-13 thereunder.
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against both Defendants)
Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act
and Violations of Rule 13b2-1 Thereunder
48.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.

49.

The Public Shell Companies controlled by the Smiths violated Section 13(b)(2)(A)

of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)], which requires certain reporting companies to
make and keep accurate books, records, and accounts. The Smiths aided and abetted these
violations. The Smiths also violated Rule 13b2-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1], which
prohibits any person from directly or indirectly falsifying any book, record, or account subject to
Section 13(b)(2)(A).
50.

Unless restrained and enjoined, the Smiths will continue to aid and abet violations of

Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act.
51.

Unless restrained and enjoined, the Smiths will continue to violate Rule 13b2-1

thereunder.
SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against Charles only)
Violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act
52.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.
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Charles Smith violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §

78m(b)(5)], which provides that no person shall knowingly falsify certain books, records, and
accounts.
54.

Unless restrained and enjoined, Charles Smith will continue to violate Section

13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act.
SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(against both Defendants)
Violations of Rule 13b2-2 under the Exchange Act
55.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 35.

56.

The officers and directors of the Public Shell Companies controlled by the Smiths

violated Rule 13b2-2 under Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2], which prohibits a director or
officer of an issuer of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78l] from, in connection with a financial statement audit: (1) making or causing to be made a
materially false and misleading statement to an accountant; or (2) omitting to state any material fact
necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading. The Smiths aided and abetted these violations.
57.

Unless restrained and enjoined, the Smiths will continue to aid and abet violations of

Rule 13b2-2 under the Exchange Act.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court enter a final
judgment that:
A. permanently restrains and enjoins Charles Smith from violations of Section 17(a)
of the Securities Act of 1933 [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)] and Sections 10(b), 13(b)(5), and 15(a) of the
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Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(b)(5), and 78o(a)] and Rules 10b-5 and 13b2-1
thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-1 and 240.13b2-1 ], and from aiding and abetting violations of
Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A),
and 78o(d)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, 13b2-2, 15d-1, and 15d-13 thereunder [17
C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, 240.13a-13, 240.13b2-2, 240.15d-1, and 240.15d13];
B. permanently restrains and enjoins Mark Smith from violations of Section 17(a)(2)
and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and (3)] and Rule 13b2-1 under the
Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1], and from aiding and abetting violations of Sections
13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and
78o(d)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, 13b2-2, 15d-1, and 15d-13 thereunder [17
C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, 240.13a-13, 240.13b2-2, 240.15d-1, and 240.15d13];
C. orders the Smiths to disgorge all ill-gotten gains, with prejudgment interest;
D. orders the Smiths to each pay civil penalties pursuant to Sections 20(d) of the
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 USC §
78u(d)(3)];
E. prohibits Charles Smith, pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)] and Section 20(e) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(e)], from acting as
an officer or director of any issuer that has a class of securities registered under Section 12 of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78l] or that is required to file reports under Section 15(d) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(d)] for a period of five years following entry of the final
judgment;
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F. prohibits Charles Smith, pursuant to Section 21(d)(6)(A) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. § 78u(d)(6)(A)] and Section 20(g)(1) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)(1)], from
participating in an offering of penny stock, including engaging in activities with a broker, dealer,
or issuer for purposes of issuing, trading, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale
of any penny stock for a period of five years following entry of the final judgment;
G. prohibits Mark Smith, pursuant to Section 21(d)(6)(A) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. § 78u(d)(6)(A)] and Section 20(g)(1) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)(1)], from
participating in an offering of penny stock, including engaging in activities with a broker, dealer,
or issuer for purposes of issuing, trading, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale
of any penny stock for a period of three years following entry of the final judgment;
H. grants such other relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate; and
I. retains jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders
and decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion for additional
relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.
Dated: October 31, 2014

Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Chris Davis
Davis
Texas Bar No. 24050483
davisca@sec.gov
801 Cherry Street, Suite 1900
Fort Worth, TX 76102
Telephone: 817-900-2638
Facsimile:
817-978-3049
COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION
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6WRFNKROGHUV¶6XLWV
2WKHU&RQWUDFW
&RQWUDFW3URGXFW/LDELOLW\
)UDQFKLVH

u
u
u
u
u
u

5($/3523(57<
/DQG&RQGHPQDWLRQ
)RUHFORVXUH
5HQW/HDVH (MHFWPHQW
7RUWVWR/DQG
7RUW3URGXFW/LDELOLW\
$OO2WKHU5HDO3URSHUW\

u
u
u
u
u
u
u

u

3(5621$/,1-85<
u $LUSODQH
u $LUSODQH3URGXFW
/LDELOLW\
u $VVDXOW/LEHO
6ODQGHU
u )HGHUDO(PSOR\HUV¶
/LDELOLW\
u 0DULQH
u 0DULQH3URGXFW
/LDELOLW\
u 0RWRU9HKLFOH
u 0RWRU9HKLFOH
3URGXFW/LDELOLW\
u 2WKHU3HUVRQDO
,QMXU\
u 3HUVRQDO,QMXU\
0HGLFDO0DOSUDFWLFH
&,9,/5,*+76
u 2WKHU&LYLO5LJKWV
u 9RWLQJ
u (PSOR\PHQW
u +RXVLQJ
$FFRPPRGDWLRQV
u $PHUZ'LVDELOLWLHV
(PSOR\PHQW
u $PHUZ'LVDELOLWLHV
2WKHU
u (GXFDWLRQ

)25)(,785(3(1$/7<

3(5621$/,1-85<
u 3HUVRQDO,QMXU\
3URGXFW/LDELOLW\
u +HDOWK&DUH
3KDUPDFHXWLFDO
3HUVRQDO,QMXU\
3URGXFW/LDELOLW\
u $VEHVWRV3HUVRQDO
,QMXU\3URGXFW
/LDELOLW\
3(5621$/3523(57<
u 2WKHU)UDXG
u 7UXWKLQ/HQGLQJ
u 2WKHU3HUVRQDO
3URSHUW\'DPDJH
u 3URSHUW\'DPDJH
3URGXFW/LDELOLW\
35,621(53(7,7,216
+DEHDV&RUSXV
u $OLHQ'HWDLQHH
u 0RWLRQVWR9DFDWH
6HQWHQFH
u *HQHUDO
u 'HDWK3HQDOW\
2WKHU
u 0DQGDPXV 2WKHU
u &LYLO5LJKWV
u 3ULVRQ&RQGLWLRQ
u &LYLO'HWDLQHH
&RQGLWLRQVRI
&RQILQHPHQW

u 'UXJ5HODWHG6HL]XUH
RI3URSHUW\86&
u 2WKHU

%$1.5837&<
u $SSHDO86&
u :LWKGUDZDO
86&
3523(57<5,*+76
u &RS\ULJKWV
u 3DWHQW
u 7UDGHPDUN

u
u
u
u
u
u

/$%25
)DLU/DERU6WDQGDUGV
$FW
/DERU0DQDJHPHQW
5HODWLRQV
5DLOZD\/DERU$FW
)DPLO\DQG0HGLFDO
/HDYH$FW
2WKHU/DERU/LWLJDWLRQ
(PSOR\HH5HWLUHPHQW
,QFRPH6HFXULW\$FW

u
u
u
u
u

62&,$/6(&85,7<
+,$ II
%ODFN/XQJ 
',:&',::  J
66,'7LWOH;9,
56,  J

)('(5$/7$;68,76
u 7D[HV 863ODLQWLII
RU'HIHQGDQW
u ,56²7KLUG3DUW\
86&

27+(567$787(6
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u
u

u

)DOVH&ODLPV$FW
6WDWH5HDSSRUWLRQPHQW
$QWLWUXVW
%DQNVDQG%DQNLQJ
&RPPHUFH
'HSRUWDWLRQ
5DFNHWHHU,QIOXHQFHGDQG
&RUUXSW2UJDQL]DWLRQV
&RQVXPHU&UHGLW
&DEOH6DW79
6HFXULWLHV&RPPRGLWLHV
([FKDQJH
2WKHU6WDWXWRU\$FWLRQV
$JULFXOWXUDO$FWV
(QYLURQPHQWDO0DWWHUV
)UHHGRPRI,QIRUPDWLRQ
$FW
$UELWUDWLRQ
$GPLQLVWUDWLYH3URFHGXUH
$FW5HYLHZRU$SSHDORI
$JHQF\'HFLVLRQ
&RQVWLWXWLRQDOLW\RI
6WDWH6WDWXWHV

,00,*5$7,21
u 1DWXUDOL]DWLRQ$SSOLFDWLRQ
u 2WKHU,PPLJUDWLRQ
$FWLRQV

925,*,1(Place an “X” in One Box Only)
u  2ULJLQDO
3URFHHGLQJ

u  5HPRYHGIURP
6WDWH&RXUW

u 

5HPDQGHGIURP
$SSHOODWH&RXUW

u  5HLQVWDWHGRU
5HRSHQHG

u  7UDQVIHUUHGIURP
$QRWKHU'LVWULFW

u  0XOWLGLVWULFW
/LWLJDWLRQ

(specify)

9,&$86(2)$&7,21

&LWHWKH86&LYLO6WDWXWHXQGHUZKLFK\RXDUHILOLQJ(Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity)
15 U.S.C. §§77q(a), 78j(b), 78o(a) and (d), 78(a), 78l, and 78m(b).
%ULHIGHVFULSWLRQRIFDXVH

Violations of Federal Securities Laws.

u &+(&.,)7+,6,6$&/$66$&7,21
9,,5(48(67(',1
81'(558/()5&Y3
&203/$,17
9,,,5(/$7('3(1',1*25&/26('&$6( 6
(See instructions):
,)$1<
-8'*(

&+(&.<(6RQO\LIGHPDQGHGLQFRPSODLQW
u <HV
u 1R
-85<'(0$1'

'(0$1'

'$7(

6,*1$785(2)$77251(<2)5(&25'

October 31, 2014

/s/ Chris Davis

'2&.(7180%(5

)252)),&(86(21/<
5(&(,37

$02817

$33/<,1*,)3

-8'*(

0$*-8'*(
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,16758&7,216)25$77251(<6&203/(7,1*&,9,/&29(56+((7)250-6
$XWKRULW\)RU&LYLO&RYHU6KHHW
7KH-6FLYLOFRYHUVKHHWDQGWKHLQIRUPDWLRQFRQWDLQHGKHUHLQQHLWKHUUHSODFHVQRUVXSSOHPHQWVWKHILOLQJVDQGVHUYLFHRISOHDGLQJRURWKHUSDSHUVDV
UHTXLUHGE\ODZH[FHSWDVSURYLGHGE\ORFDOUXOHVRIFRXUW7KLVIRUPDSSURYHGE\WKH-XGLFLDO&RQIHUHQFHRIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVLQ6HSWHPEHULV
UHTXLUHGIRUWKHXVHRIWKH&OHUNRI&RXUWIRUWKHSXUSRVHRILQLWLDWLQJWKHFLYLOGRFNHWVKHHW&RQVHTXHQWO\DFLYLOFRYHUVKHHWLVVXEPLWWHGWRWKH&OHUNRI
&RXUWIRUHDFKFLYLOFRPSODLQWILOHG7KHDWWRUQH\ILOLQJDFDVHVKRXOGFRPSOHWHWKHIRUPDVIROORZV
, D 
 E
 F

3ODLQWLIIV'HIHQGDQWV(QWHUQDPHV ODVWILUVWPLGGOHLQLWLDO RISODLQWLIIDQGGHIHQGDQW,IWKHSODLQWLIIRUGHIHQGDQWLVDJRYHUQPHQWDJHQF\XVH
RQO\WKHIXOOQDPHRUVWDQGDUGDEEUHYLDWLRQV,IWKHSODLQWLIIRUGHIHQGDQWLVDQRIILFLDOZLWKLQDJRYHUQPHQWDJHQF\LGHQWLI\ILUVWWKHDJHQF\DQG
WKHQWKHRIILFLDOJLYLQJERWKQDPHDQGWLWOH
&RXQW\RI5HVLGHQFH)RUHDFKFLYLOFDVHILOHGH[FHSW86SODLQWLIIFDVHVHQWHUWKHQDPHRIWKHFRXQW\ZKHUHWKHILUVWOLVWHGSODLQWLIIUHVLGHVDWWKH
WLPHRIILOLQJ,Q86SODLQWLIIFDVHVHQWHUWKHQDPHRIWKHFRXQW\LQZKLFKWKHILUVWOLVWHGGHIHQGDQWUHVLGHVDWWKHWLPHRIILOLQJ 127(,QODQG
FRQGHPQDWLRQFDVHVWKHFRXQW\RIUHVLGHQFHRIWKHGHIHQGDQWLVWKHORFDWLRQRIWKHWUDFWRIODQGLQYROYHG
$WWRUQH\V(QWHUWKHILUPQDPHDGGUHVVWHOHSKRQHQXPEHUDQGDWWRUQH\RIUHFRUG,IWKHUHDUHVHYHUDODWWRUQH\VOLVWWKHPRQDQDWWDFKPHQWQRWLQJ
LQWKLVVHFWLRQ VHHDWWDFKPHQW 

,,

-XULVGLFWLRQ7KHEDVLVRIMXULVGLFWLRQLVVHWIRUWKXQGHU5XOH D )5&Y3ZKLFKUHTXLUHVWKDWMXULVGLFWLRQVEHVKRZQLQSOHDGLQJV3ODFHDQ;
LQRQHRIWKHER[HV,IWKHUHLVPRUHWKDQRQHEDVLVRIMXULVGLFWLRQSUHFHGHQFHLVJLYHQLQWKHRUGHUVKRZQEHORZ
8QLWHG6WDWHVSODLQWLII  -XULVGLFWLRQEDVHGRQ86&DQG6XLWVE\DJHQFLHVDQGRIILFHUVRIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVDUHLQFOXGHGKHUH
8QLWHG6WDWHVGHIHQGDQW  :KHQWKHSODLQWLIILVVXLQJWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVLWVRIILFHUVRUDJHQFLHVSODFHDQ;LQWKLVER[
)HGHUDOTXHVWLRQ  7KLVUHIHUVWRVXLWVXQGHU86&ZKHUHMXULVGLFWLRQDULVHVXQGHUWKH&RQVWLWXWLRQRIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVDQDPHQGPHQW
WRWKH&RQVWLWXWLRQDQDFWRI&RQJUHVVRUDWUHDW\RIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHV,QFDVHVZKHUHWKH86LVDSDUW\WKH86SODLQWLIIRUGHIHQGDQWFRGHWDNHV
SUHFHGHQFHDQGER[RUVKRXOGEHPDUNHG
'LYHUVLW\RIFLWL]HQVKLS  7KLVUHIHUVWRVXLWVXQGHU86&ZKHUHSDUWLHVDUHFLWL]HQVRIGLIIHUHQWVWDWHV:KHQ%R[LVFKHFNHGWKH
FLWL]HQVKLSRIWKHGLIIHUHQWSDUWLHVPXVWEHFKHFNHG 6HH6HFWLRQ,,,EHORZ127(IHGHUDOTXHVWLRQDFWLRQVWDNHSUHFHGHQFHRYHUGLYHUVLW\
FDVHV

,,,

5HVLGHQFH FLWL]HQVKLS RI3ULQFLSDO3DUWLHV7KLVVHFWLRQRIWKH-6LVWREHFRPSOHWHGLIGLYHUVLW\RIFLWL]HQVKLSZDVLQGLFDWHGDERYH0DUNWKLV
VHFWLRQIRUHDFKSULQFLSDOSDUW\

,9

1DWXUHRI6XLW3ODFHDQ;LQWKHDSSURSULDWHER[,IWKHQDWXUHRIVXLWFDQQRWEHGHWHUPLQHGEHVXUHWKHFDXVHRIDFWLRQLQ6HFWLRQ9,EHORZLV
VXIILFLHQWWRHQDEOHWKHGHSXW\FOHUNRUWKHVWDWLVWLFDOFOHUN V LQWKH$GPLQLVWUDWLYH2IILFHWRGHWHUPLQHWKHQDWXUHRIVXLW,IWKHFDXVHILWVPRUHWKDQ
RQHQDWXUHRIVXLWVHOHFWWKHPRVWGHILQLWLYH

9

2ULJLQ3ODFHDQ;LQRQHRIWKHVL[ER[HV
2ULJLQDO3URFHHGLQJV  &DVHVZKLFKRULJLQDWHLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVGLVWULFWFRXUWV
5HPRYHGIURP6WDWH&RXUW  3URFHHGLQJVLQLWLDWHGLQVWDWHFRXUWVPD\EHUHPRYHGWRWKHGLVWULFWFRXUWVXQGHU7LWOH86&6HFWLRQ
:KHQWKHSHWLWLRQIRUUHPRYDOLVJUDQWHGFKHFNWKLVER[
5HPDQGHGIURP$SSHOODWH&RXUW  &KHFNWKLVER[IRUFDVHVUHPDQGHGWRWKHGLVWULFWFRXUWIRUIXUWKHUDFWLRQ8VHWKHGDWHRIUHPDQGDVWKHILOLQJ
GDWH
5HLQVWDWHGRU5HRSHQHG  &KHFNWKLVER[IRUFDVHVUHLQVWDWHGRUUHRSHQHGLQWKHGLVWULFWFRXUW8VHWKHUHRSHQLQJGDWHDVWKHILOLQJGDWH
7UDQVIHUUHGIURP$QRWKHU'LVWULFW  )RUFDVHVWUDQVIHUUHGXQGHU7LWOH86&6HFWLRQ D 'RQRWXVHWKLVIRUZLWKLQGLVWULFWWUDQVIHUVRU
PXOWLGLVWULFWOLWLJDWLRQWUDQVIHUV
0XOWLGLVWULFW/LWLJDWLRQ  &KHFNWKLVER[ZKHQDPXOWLGLVWULFWFDVHLVWUDQVIHUUHGLQWRWKHGLVWULFWXQGHUDXWKRULW\RI7LWOH86&6HFWLRQ
:KHQWKLVER[LVFKHFNHGGRQRWFKHFN  DERYH

9,

&DXVHRI$FWLRQ5HSRUWWKHFLYLOVWDWXWHGLUHFWO\UHODWHGWRWKHFDXVHRIDFWLRQDQGJLYHDEULHIGHVFULSWLRQRIWKHFDXVH'RQRWFLWHMXULVGLFWLRQDO
VWDWXWHVXQOHVVGLYHUVLW\([DPSOH86&LYLO6WDWXWH86&%ULHI'HVFULSWLRQ8QDXWKRUL]HGUHFHSWLRQRIFDEOHVHUYLFH

9,,

5HTXHVWHGLQ&RPSODLQW&ODVV$FWLRQ3ODFHDQ;LQWKLVER[LI\RXDUHILOLQJDFODVVDFWLRQXQGHU5XOH)5&Y3
'HPDQG,QWKLVVSDFHHQWHUWKHDFWXDOGROODUDPRXQWEHLQJGHPDQGHGRULQGLFDWHRWKHUGHPDQGVXFKDVDSUHOLPLQDU\LQMXQFWLRQ
-XU\'HPDQG&KHFNWKHDSSURSULDWHER[WRLQGLFDWHZKHWKHURUQRWDMXU\LVEHLQJGHPDQGHG

9,,, 5HODWHG&DVHV7KLVVHFWLRQRIWKH-6LVXVHGWRUHIHUHQFHUHODWHGSHQGLQJFDVHVLIDQ\,IDUHODWHGFDVHH[LVWVZKHWKHUSHQGLQJRUFORVHGLQVHUW
WKHGRFNHWQXPEHUVDQGWKHFRUUHVSRQGLQJMXGJHQDPHVIRUVXFKFDVHV$FDVHLVUHODWHGWRWKLVILOLQJLIWKHFDVH LQYROYHVVRPHRUDOORIWKHVDPH
SDUWLHVDQGLVEDVHGRQWKHVDPHRUDVLPLODUFODLP LQYROYHVWKHVDPHSURSHUW\WUDQVDFWLRQRUHYHQW LQYROYHVVXEVWDQWLDOO\VLPLODULVVXHVRIODZ
DQGIDFWDQGRU LQYROYHVWKHVDPHHVWDWHLQDEDQNUXSWF\DSSHDO

G$WWRUQH\6LJQDWXUH'DWHDQGVLJQWKHFLYLOFRYHUVKHHW

